IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

Case No. 84,732

JOHN WAYNE UPTON,

Respondent.

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

JAMES W. ROGERS
TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0325791

PATRICK MARTIN ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0998729

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR PETITIONER

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the State of Florida, appellee below, will be referred to herein as "the State." Respondent, John Wayne Upton, appellant below, will be referred to herein as "respondent" or by his last name. The record on appeal, consisting of two volumes of pleadings, etc., and two volumes of trial transcript, will be referred to by the symbols "R" and "T" respectively, followed by the appropriate page numbers.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information filed on October 16, 1992, respondent was charged with armed burglary of a dwelling with a firearm and two counts of sexual battery with a firearm (R. 1). On January 12, 1993, the respondent filed a "Stipulation for Judge Trial," signed by defense counsel and the prosecutor, which read:

Now in the Court through undersigned counsel comes the defendant, John Wayne Upton and stipulates a waiver of his right of a Jury Trial and elects to try this matter before the Honorable John Kuder.

(R.7).

Pursuant to the above written waiver, this case proceeded to a beach trial on February 5, 1993, after which the respondent was found guilty of committing armed burglary with a firearm, one count of sexual battery with a firearm, and one count of the lesser included offense of battery (R. 8). The respondent was adjudicated guilty of all charges and was sentenced to prison for a total term of twelve years with a three-year minimum mandatory term (R. 23-7).

On direct appeal, the First District Court of Appeal reversed the trial court's judgment and sentence because it held the record did not demonstrate that the respondent made a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent waiver of his right to a trial by jury, but certified to this Court a question of great public importance. The State timely invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court based on the certified question.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The written waiver signed by defense counsel but not by the respondent nevertheless shows that Upton knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently waived his right to a jury trial. Implicit in defense counsel's representation to the trial court that the respondent waived his right to a jury is the presumption that he advised his client of that right and the consequences of relinquishing that right. To hold that the defendant's written waiver signed by his defense counsel is inadequate to show a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver, thus warranting a new trial, unjustly allows Upton to seek to escape justice from a favorable ruling on his own motion.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE/CERTIFIED QUESTION

DOES A LAWYER'S WRITTEN WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL ONBEHALF CF HIS CLIENT VALIDLY THE DEFENDANT'S WAIVE RIGHT JURY TRIAL WHERE THERE IS NO INDICATION IN THE RECORD THAT THE DEFENDANT AGREED TO WRITTEN WAIVER OR OTHERWISE MADE KNOWING, VOLUNTARY AND INTELLIGENT WAIVER OF HIS RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY?

Pursuant to a written waiver of his right to a jury trial signed by defense counsel and the prosecutor, but not by the respondent, Upton was tried without a jury. Having been found guilty, the respondent argued for the first time on appeal that, due to the absence of his signature, the written waiver did not show a knowing and intelligent waiver of his right to a jury and that therefore he was entitled to a new trial. The First District agreed and held that a written waiver signed by defense counsel alone does not show that the respondent made a knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver of his right to a jury trial. For the following reasons, this Court should answer the certified question in the affirmative and quash the First District's decision below.

While the fundamental right to a jury trial is guaranteed by the sixth amendment to the United States Constitution, it can be waived when a defendant so chooses. <u>Boykin v. Alabama</u>, 395 U.S. 238, 89 S. Ct. 1709, 23 L. Ed. 2d 274 (1968); <u>Patton v. United States</u>, 281 U.S. 276, 50 S. Ct. 253, 74 L. Ed. 854 (1930). An effective waiver of a constitutional right must be knowing,

voluntary and intelligent. <u>Brady v. United States</u>, 397 U.S. 742, 90 S. Ct. 1463, 25 L. Ed. 2d 747 (1970).

The waiver of a jury trial is a procedural matter which is governed by rules adopted by this Court. State v. Garcia, 229 So. 2d 236 (Fla. 1969); Dumas v. State, 439 So. 2d 246, 252 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983) (en banc), review denied, 462 So. 2d 1105 (Fla. 1985). Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.260 provides for the waiver of the right to a jury trial and requires only that the waiver be in writing and that the State consent. Sessums v. State, 404 So. 2d 1074 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981); Dumas, 439 So. 2d at 251. never been a requirement in this state by statute, rule, or case law that the court inform the defendant of his right to a jury trial, or that the court interrogate the defendant as to the voluntariness of his waiver, or that there be a record examination of the defendant on his understanding of the waiver." Dumas, 439 So. 2d at 251 (emphasis in original); see also Sessums, 404 So. 2d at Thus, under Florida law a waiver of the right to a jury trial is effective when the defendant has entered a written waiver with the consent of the State.

While Rule 3.260 arguably requires that a waiver be signed by the defendant, the written waiver in the case at bar nevertheless demonstrates a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent waiver, and technical noncompliance with a rule of procedure should not entitle the respondent to a new trial. <u>Tucker v. State</u>, 559 So. 2d 218

Rule 3.260 provides: "A defendant may in writing waive a jury trial with the consent of the state."

(Fla. 1990). In <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 397 So. 2d 288, 290 (Fla. 1981), this Court held:

We do not condone sloppy work by the state in preparing cases. We realize, however, that mistakes can happen. This Court has previously held that "the violation of a rule of procedure prescribed by this Court does not call for a reversal of a conviction unless the record discloses that non-compliance with the rule resulted in prejudice or harm to the defendant." Richardson v. State, 246 So.2d 771, 774 (Fla.1971). See Leeman v. State, 357 So. 2d 703 (Fla.1978); Lackos v. State, 339 So.2d 217 (Fla.1976); Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.140(o). The rules are not intended to furnish a procedural device to escape justice, and we are again persuaded that the modern trend in criminal cases

"is to excuse technical defects which have no bearing upon the substantial rights of the parties. When procedural irregularities occur, the emphasis is on determining whether anyone was prejudiced by the departure. A defendant is entitled to a fair trial, not a perfect trial."

339 So.2d at 219 (quoting Grimes, J.).

See also State v. Mank, 501 A. 2d 809 (Me. 1985) (the defendant's failure to sign a written waiver of his right to a jury trial did not require reversal of his conviction where defense counsel stated to the court that the case was to be heard jury-waived); United States v. Garrett, 727 F. 2d 1003 (11th Cir. 1984), aff'd on other grounds, 471 U.S. 773, 105 S. Ct. 2407, 85 L. Ed. (1985) (where defense counsel stated he had no objection to the trial court sitting as fact finder, and the defendant did not enter written waiver, the case was remanded for an evidentiary hearing); United States v. Robinson, 8 F. 3d 418 (7th Cir. 1993) (where the record contained no signed waiver or any colloquy between the trial court and the defendant, the case was remanded

for an evidentiary hearing). Thus, even assuming the respondent's written waiver is technically deficient, because Upton was not prejudiced by this defect, he is not entitled to a new trial.

The written waiver of the respondent's right to a jury trial signed by defense counsel showed a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent waiver. Contra, Williams v. State, 440 So. 2d 1290 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). The written document indicated that the respondent was aware of his right to a jury trial, and that he authorized his attorney to sign the waiver on his behalf. Furthermore, although respondent was present throughout trial, he never indicated that he opposed the fact that the trial court was acting as the trier of fact in his case. Significantly, the respondent did not allege on appeal that his waiver was not knowingly, voluntarily, or intelligently given, nor did he allege that he was prejudiced in any way. Thus, given the written representations of respondent's trial counsel and respondent's failure to convey any disagreement with the proceedings, there is doubt that the respondent knowingly, voluntarily, no and intelligently agreed to proceed without a jury.

In <u>Dumas v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, the record on appeal showed that the information was stamped "waived trial by jury with consent of the state," above which the defendant signed his name. 439 So. 2d at 248. The Third District held:

Where a record shows a waiver, although there is no further evidence that the waiver was executed in open court, there is a presumption that in the regular course of proceedings the defendant, through his attorney, learned of, and waived his consti-

tutional right to jury trial. The presumption which springs from defendant's signature on the formal charging document denoting waiver of jury trial, is, more precisely, that the defendant was advised by his attorney of his right to trial by jury, the consequences of relinquishing that right, and any advantages to be expected therefrom, all of which makes for the knowing and intelligent waiver required by Patton v. United States, 281 U.S. 276, 50 S.Ct. 253, 74 L.Ed. 854 (1930).

Dumas, 439 So. 2d at 249 (footnotes omitted).

Similarly, in the case at bar, implicit in defense counsel's representation to the trial court that the respondent waived his right to a jury is the presumption that he advised his client of his right to trial by jury, the consequences of relinquishing that right, and any advantages to be expected therefrom.

It bears emphasis that the right to be represented by counsel is among the most fundamental of rights. We have long recognized that "lawyers in criminal courts are necessities, not luxuries." Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335, 344, 83 S.Ct. 792, 796, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963). As a general matter, it is through counsel that all other rights of the accused are protected: "Of all the rights that an accused person has, the right to be represented by counsel is by far the most pervasive, for it affects his ability to assert any other rights he may have."

Penson v. Ohio, 488 U.S. 75, 84, 109 S. Ct. 346, 352, 102 L. Ed. 2d 300 (1988). The First District's holding that counsel is unable to execute an agreement on behalf of the defendant totally conflicts with the principle that counsel is the sine qua non of a criminal defendant's rights.

A holding in the case at bar that the record shows a trial waiver by counsel would not preclude the respondent from claiming ineffective assistance of counsel by means of a motion for post-trial relief pursuant to Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850. Dumas, 439 So. 2d at 252; Parker v. State, 636 So. 2d 794 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). If the respondent was unaware of his right to a jury trial and he would have exercised that right had he known about it, obviously defense counsel was incompetent and the respondent would have a case of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. But to allow the respondent to escape his convictions even though the record conclusively shows that he waived his right to a jury trial would allow him to unjustly benefit from error invited by himself.

In <u>State v. Jones</u>, 204 So. 2d 515 (Fla. 1967), this Court held that prior to <u>Gideon v. Wainwright</u>, 372 U.S. 335, 83 S. Ct. 792, 9 L. Ed. 2d 799 (1963) Florida courts broadly applied the fundamental error exception to protect against the infringement of a defendant's fundamental rights. 204 So. 2d at 518. Before <u>Gideon</u>, indigent defendants were only given the assistance of counsel in capital trials, and, thus, many defendants were vulnerable to abuse. 204 So. 2d at 518.

This made it possible for defense counsel to stand mute if he chose to do so, knowing all the while that a verdict against his client was thus tainted and could not stand. By such action defendants had nothing to lose and all to gain, for if the verdict be "not guilty" it remained unassailable.

* * *

Prior to the Gideon case the good resulting from the application of the exception over-shadowed the evil, for trial judges, notwithstanding the absence of objection, were admonished to intervene, sua sponte, and declare a mistrial thus assuring of many uninformed defendants on trial without counsel a fair and impartial trial.

At the present time all defendants in criminal trials who are unable to engage counsel furnished counsel without charge. Application of the exception is no longer necessary to protect those charged with crime who may be ignorant of their rights. Their rights are now well guarded by defending counsel. Under these circumstances further application of the exception will contribute nothing to the administration of justice, but rather will tend to provoke censure of the judicial process as permitting "the use of loopholes, technicalities and delays in the law which frequently benefit rogues at the expense of decent members of society."

It has been suggested that some courts today seem to be preoccupied primarily in carefully assuring that the criminal has all his rights while at the same time giving little concern to the victim. Upon the shoulders of our courts rests the obligation to recognize and maintain a middle ground which will secure to the defendant on trial the rights afforded him by law without sacrificing protection of society. As Mr. Justice Cardozo explained in Snyder v. Commonwealth of Mass., 291 U.S. 97, 122, 54 S.Ct. 330, 338, 78 L.Ed. 674, 687:

"But justice, though due to the accused, is due to the accuser also. The concept of fairness must not be strained till it is narrowed to a filament. We are to keep the balance true."

Id. at 518-9.

Judge Learned Hand made the same point in a similar comment:

Under our criminal procedure the accused has every advantage. While the prosecution is held rigidly to the charge, he need not disclose the barest outline of his defense. He is immune from question or comment on his silence; he cannot be convicted when there is the least fair doubt in the minds of any one of the twelve. Why in addition he should in advance have the whole evidence against him to pick over at

his leisure, and make his defense, fairly or foully, I have never been able to see. No doubt grand juries err and indictments are calamities to honest men, but we must work with human beings and we can correct such errors only at too large a price. Our dangers do not lie in too little tenderness to the accused. Our procedure has been always haunted by the ghost of the innocent man convicted. It is an unreal dream. What we need to fear is the archaic formalism and the watery sentiment that obstructs, delays and defeats the prosecution of crime.

<u>United States v. Garsson</u>, 291 F. 646, 649 (U.S.D.C., S.D N.Y. 1923). The principles set forth in <u>Jones</u>, and by Justice Cardozo and Judge Hand, are equally applicable to the case at bar. The respondent should not be given a new trial when the record shows that he made a knowing, voluntary, and intelligent waiver of his right to a jury through his defense counsel. To hold otherwise would unjustly benefit the respondent at the expense of society. The decision of the First District should be quashed and the certified question answered in the affirmative.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, the State respectfully requests that this Court answer the certified question in the affirmative and quash the First District's decision below.