001

# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

v. :

JOHN WAYNE UPTON,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 84,732

FILED

SID J WHITE

FEB 2 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

# AMENDED RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMIE SPIVEY
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0850901
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
SUITE 401
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR RESPONDENT

#

#### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent was the defendant at trial, the Appellant, below, and will be referred to as the Respondent or Mr. Upton in the following brief. A one volume record on appeal, including the sentencing transcript, will be referred to by "R" followed with the appropriate page number in parenthesis. A two volume transcript of trial will be referred to by "T." All proceedings below were before the Honorable JOHN P. KUDER.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By information filed October 16, 1992 Respondent was charged with Count I: armed burglary with a firearm per Section 810.02(2)(b) and 775.087; Count II: sexual battery with a firearm per Section 794.011(3) and 775.087; and Count III: sexual battery with a firearm per Section 794.011(3), Florida Statutes (R 1). Per written waiver, the cause proceeded to a bench trial on February 5, 1993 (R 7, T 1). Respondent was found as to Count I: guilty, as charged; Count II: quilty of the lesser-included offense of battery; and Count III: guilty, as charged (R 8). A PSI was ordered and a scoresheet was provided reflecting 333 points in category two and a permitted sentence of 7 to 17 years prison. The cause proceeded to sentencing on April 15, 1993 whereupon Respondent was adjudicated quilty on all counts and sentenced to Count I: 12 years prison with a three year firearm minimum; Count II: credit for time served; and Count III: 12 years prison with a three year firearm minimum, concurrent to Count I (R 19).

Respondent filed a timely notice of appeal on May 14, 1993 (R 29). The Public Defender was appointed to represent Respondent on June 7, 1993 (R 34).

The First District Court of Appeal reversed the judgement and sentence below. See opinion in Appendix.

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

An effective waiver of a constitutional right must be knowing, voluntary and intelligent. See <a href="Brady v. United">Brady v. United</a>
<a href="States">States</a>, 397 U.S. 742, 90 S. Ct. 1463, 25 L. Ed. 2d 747 (1970).
<a href="Logically">Logically</a>, in order to find that a waiver is knowing, voluntary and intelligent, there must be, at least, evidence that Respondent was apprised of the waiver — the waiver must be personal.

The First District Court of Appeal reversed Respondent's conviction because there was no record Respondent personally waived his right to trial by jury. The record contains a written waiver, but it is not signed by Respondent; neither was there any mention of the waiver in open court. Caselaw and the fundamental right to trial by jury require that, where the written waiver is not signed by the defendant and there is no other evidence Respondent has been apprised of the waiver and its meaning, the waiver is invalid. See, <u>Tucker v. State</u>, 559 So. 2d 218 (Fla. 1990); <u>Tosta v. State</u>, 352 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977), <u>cert. denied</u>, 366 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1978); <u>Hurd v. State</u>, 440 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>Williams v.</u>

#### ARGUMENT

DOES A LAWYER'S WRITTEN WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL ON BEHALF OF HIS CLIENT VALIDLY WAIVE THE DEFENDANT'S RIGHT TO A JURY TRIAL WHERE THERE IS NO INDICATION IN THE RECORD THAT THE DEFENDANT AGREED TO THE WRITTEN WAIVER OR OTHERWISE MADE A KNOWING, VOLUNTARY AND INTELLIGENT WAIVER OF HIS RIGHT TO TRIAL BY JURY? [as certified]

The First District Court of Appeal reversed Respondent's conviction because there was no record Respondent personally waived his right to trial by jury. The record contains a written waiver, but it is not signed by Respondent. Neither was there any mention of the waiver in open court.

An effective waiver of a constitutional right must be knowing, voluntary and intelligent. See <a href="Brady v. United">Brady v. United</a>
<a href="States">States</a>, 397 U.S. 742, 90 S. Ct. 1463, 25 L. Ed. 2d 747 (1970). Logically, in order to find that a waiver is knowing, voluntary and intelligent, there must be, at least, evidence that Respondent was apprised of the waiver, that the waiver was personal. Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.260 ensures the waiver will be personal by permitting a defendant to waive a jury trial, in writing. Where the record contains a written waiver, signed by the defendant, caselaw is clear that the waiver should be upheld. <a href="Dumas v. State">Dumas v. State</a>, 439 So. 2d 246 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) (en banc), <a href="review denied">review denied</a>, 462 So. 2d 1105 (Fla. 1985); <a href="Parker v. State">Parker v. State</a>, 636 So. 2d 794 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994). In that case, the defendant's signature is evidence that the waiver was personal.

However, when a defendant's signature does not appear on the written waiver, caselaw is clear that the record must contain other evidence that the defendant was apprised of the waiver. In <u>Tucker v. State</u>, 559 So. 2d 218 (Fla. 1990), for example, there was no written record of the defendant's waiver. Nonetheless, because the court adequately questioned Tucker about the waiver, in open court, and this colloquy was made part of the record, the waiver was upheld. This Court relied on <u>Hoffman v. State</u>, 397 So. 22d 288 (Fla. 1981) in saying that, while Tucker's waiver was not in compliance with Rule 3.260, it was only a technical non-compliance which did not harm the defendant. Plainly, the record showed Tucker had been apprised of his right to jury trial and consented in the waiver.

Caselaw is also clear that where the written waiver is not signed by the defendant and there is no other evidence Respondent has been apprised of the waiver and its meaning, the waiver is invalid. In <u>Tosta v. State</u>, 352 So. 2d 526 (Fla. 4th DCA 1977), <u>cert. denied</u>, 366 So. 2d 885 (Fla. 1978), there was no written record Tosta had agreed to the waiver, but there was an open court inquiry of defense counsel regarding the waiver, in Tosta's presence. That court deemed the record insufficient to support a waiver, as follows:

[W]here there was no written waiver by the defendant and nothing in the record to show the defendant's concurrence in his counsel's waiver, or that he understood what was meant by waiver of a jury trial, that there was no valid waiver. Id. at 527. This Court cited <u>Tosta</u> as an example of an insufficient record in its <u>Tucker</u> decision. See, also, <u>Hurd v. State</u>, 440 So. 2d 691 (Fla. 1st DCA 1983); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 440 So. 2d 1290 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983).

Petitioner argues, essentially, three things. First, he claims that a written waiver which is in non-compliance with Rule 3.260 in that the defendant did not sign it, amounts to only a "technical non-compliance" with the rule. Secondly, Petitioner argues that if this non-compliance proves to be significant, as opposed to technical, then this court should recognize defense counsel's authority to waive a defendant's right's, even where the Rules of this Court require otherwise. And finally, Petitioner argues that, even if the right to trial by jury cannot be waived by one's lawyer, the appropriate remedy is not reversal, but rather, a remand for an evidentiary hearing. Ultimately, the state would prefer an outright affirmance, leaving the defendant to bring his claim in a post-conviction motion via Rule 3.850, Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure.

The flaw of petitioner's first point is, of course, that a record which is devoid of <u>any</u> evidence of <u>personal</u> waiver is not merely "technical non-compliance." When, in <u>Tucker</u>, this court found failure to file any written notice only a "technical non-compliance", it was because the trial court had obtained Tucker's personal, oral waiver, in open court.

Naturally, as long as a defendant's knowing, voluntary and intelligent waiver is supported by the record, any "technical

non-compliance" with the rule will not result in reversal. Similarly, in <u>Dumas</u>, the defendant's signature on the written waiver constituted evidence of <u>personal</u> waiver. It allowed a presumption that Dumas had been advised by his lawyer of his right to trial by jury and the meaning of such a waiver, a presumption which thereby shifted the burden to <u>Dumas</u> to allege that he was prejudiced, nonetheless.

By contrast, Respondent did not sign the written waiver.

Naturally, if there is no record support that Respondent was cognizant of the waiver, then, there can be no presumption that his lawyer advised him of its meaning.

Petitioner must travel all the way to Maine to find his single example of another jurisdiction affirming under roughly similar circumstances. See, Petitioner's Brief on the Merits, p. 6. Petitioner fails to point out, however, that Rule 23(a) of the Maine Rules of Criminal Procedure, which requires a written waiver of jury trial, expressly states:

[T]he absence of a writing shall not be conclusive evidence of an invalid waiver.

Hence, Petitioner is unable to provide even a single jurisdiction which sympathizes with his views under these circumstances.

Next, Petitioner argues that defense counsel has the authority to waive such rights for his client. Petitioner consistently fails to understand that in order for the waiver to be knowing, voluntary and intelligent, it must be personal,

even though Petitioner's own cases make this point abundantly clear, as follows:

We begin with the observation that the purpose of [Federal] Rule 23(a) is to ensure that a criminal defendant is aware of his jury right before waiving it and that any waiver is personal and unequivocal. In order to maintain its effectiveness in protecting the underlying constitutional guarantee, we require strict compliance with the rule. Thus reversal is warranted where there is no written waiver signed by the defendant in the record and the defendant asserts either that he was unaware of his jury right or that he did not consent to its waiver. [e.s.]

\* \* \*

We therefore remand to the district court for an evidentiary hearing on this issue. Unless the government succeeds in proving Garrett's knowledge and consent, express or implied, Garret must be afforded a new trial, before a jury, on the forfeiture issue; only if the augmented record firmly establishes Garrett's knowledge and consent will the forfeiture order stand.

#### [16] In concluding, we note:

that it would have been better to do as the rule directs and that much could be said for enforcing it strictly as to such an entire waiver of jury trial. The right involved is a precious one; and a mechanical application of the express, bright-line provision of Rule 23(a) safeguarding it would not be wholly amiss: no written waiver signed by the defendant, no bench trial. [cite omitted]

# U.S. v. Garret, 727 F. 2d 1003. at 1013 (11th Cir. 1984).

Finally, Petitioner argues that even if this waiver is deficient, then the appropriate remedy is to remand the case to the trial court for an evidentiary hearing. In support of this proposition, Petitioner cites no Florida cases, but resorts

instead to two federal cases. See Petitioner's Brief on the Merits, p. 6. This proposition is without merit because any evidentiary hearing would necessarily find the defense lawyer refusing to testify against his own client by asserting attorney-client privilege. The Fourth District covered this ground, before:

[1] As it turns out, the call for an evidentiary hearing in this case has turned into a thicket. Once the hearing commenced, it was impaled upon the thorn of the attorney-client privilege, which has convinced us that it was error to initiate the hearing. On reflection, we now agree with appellant's position that it was incumbent upon the trial court and all counsel involved to see that the record reflected compliance with the rule. If it does not, a post-trial hearing should not be held to resurrect or reconstruct what should have been done initially.

Williams v. State, 440 So. 2d 1290, 1291 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). Hence, Petitioner's call for an evidentiary hearing would not be a remedy, at all.

Finally, Petitioner cites <u>Parker</u> for the proposition that the appropriate remedy is a Rule 3.850 claim. <u>Parker</u> is distinguishable in that, like <u>Dumas</u>, Parker's written waiver contained Parker's personal signature, thereby creating the presumption that Parker knew of the waiver. Because Respondent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The State of Florida conceded that the facts of Williams constituted an insufficient waiver. The State of Florida is, apparently, assuming a contradictory position in this case which had identical facts as Williams. Equal protection guarantees do not permit the State to vacilate on this subject. See, State v. Pitts, 249 So. 2d 47 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971); Johnson v. State, 268 So. 2d 170 (FLa. 1st DCA 1972).

did not sign the waiver, and because there is no other record evidence Respondent knew of the waiver, this presumption is not permissible. Moreover, the court cannot find the waiver sufficient, even though it is insufficient, simply because the defendant has an alternative procedural vehicle to seek redress. Whether or not the Rule 3.850 motion would achieve a proper resolution is irrelevant to whether the conviction can be sustained without a proper waiver of jury trial. Hence, Petitioner's suggestion is procedurally misconceived. See, also, Judge Schwartz' dissent from <u>Dumas</u>, pointing out the inherent ineffectiveness of Rule 3.850 hearings, even where the court finds a presumptive waiver.

In conclusion, the burden was on the State to show Respondent's waiver of jury trial was knowing, voluntary and intelligent. Tucker, supra, citing Zellers v. State, 138 Fla. 158, 189 So. 236 (1939). Because Respondent did not sign the written waiver, and because there is no other record evidence Respondent actually knew of the existence of the written waiver, it may not be presumed that Respondent participated in counsel's waiver of his right to trial by jury. Consequently, the record does not support a waiver of jury trial and the only viable remedy is to remand this case for a new trial.

While Petitioner's manipulation of Justice Cardozo and Justice Hand's words evinces his contempt for the Bill of Rights and for our criminal justice system, he does not offer

precedent for a less stringent standard of proof regarding waiver of the right to trial by  $jury.^2$ 

 $<sup>^2\</sup>mbox{e.g.,}$  Justice Hand was referring to a defendant's request to open the grand jury's minutes of an indictment -- not a fundamental right.

#### CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing reasoning, caselaw, and other citation of authority, Respondent respectfully requests this Court affirm the decision of the First District Court of Appeal.